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INTRODUCTION 

In October of 2004 I staged Anthony Clarvoe’s adaptation of The Brothers 

Karamazov for completion of my Master of Fine Arts thesis.  This document aims 

to record the production process and to demonstrate the learning of the 

candidate and, through that reflection, to explore what was successful and what 

was not. I have had a hard time being fully fair to both successes and failures.  

Before writing this document, I was painfully aware of the failures of the 

production.  As I approach completion of this paper the successes are more 

acute.  Finally writing this thesis has shown me more successes than I was 

aware of, eight years ago, when I started writing this.   

In retrospect, the show perfectly illustrated the level of my skills as a 

director at that time.  I was an ambitious student and, consequently,  I chose the 

biggest show I could find--one with a large cast, large world, and exceptionally 

large ideas, in which I could explore the epic waters of a main-stage production 

with a budget to support it. 

Overall the experience was taxing but enlightening.  In retrospect, I would 

have been wise to choose a smaller show with fewer actors and a less 

stylistically difficult world.  However, safety in the theatrical arts has never been 

my ambition.  By straining my talent and my abilities I learned much more than a 

simple well-executed production could ever have taught me. 
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Now, in April of 2013, eight years since I ideally should have delivered this 

document, I must acknowledge in this introduction what a struggle writing it 

became.  I put off the rigors of self-evaluation and reflection I believe for the 

simple reason that less than effective work becomes difficult to examine.  When 

relevant I will point out a thought that comes from the wisdom time affords.   

A final self-evaluation will follow from the full perspective of these long 

years. 
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SCRIPT SELECTION 

When I started my MFA in the fall of 2002, I was already thinking of this 

play as a possible thesis.  I knew the guidelines for a typical thesis production--

that the play be researchable, entertaining, actable, and sellable in a season.  I 

felt strongly that the adaptation of The Brothers Karamazov by Anthony Clarvoe 

had all four.  I wanted a show that would stretch my theatrical language and 

demand a strong unified vision.   

I went into the process of selecting a play without a backup plan.  During 

my first two years, I made very good decisions as to what show I could do in the 

Mason Gross world.  They were successful choices, and I had no intention of 

questioning my idea for the thesis.  The selection of this script, like everything 

else I did, was ambitious.   

The novel itself had left a strong impression on me in the summer of 2001.  

I read it with no idea of directing a play version of it; it is just one of those books 

you are supposed to read.  I do not remember much of how I felt about it, but I do 

remember thinking about Ivan.  In the book, he is a journalist and atheist who 

challenges his younger brother Alyosha, who is studying to be a Russian 

Orthodox priest.  In fact, I misunderstood the book the first time I read it.  I 

thought Dostoevsky was celebrating Ivan’s world view and that Ivan had been 

successful in tempting Alyosha.  This, I discovered, was never the intention of the 

author. I loved “The Grand Inquisitor” chapter of the book-- a ‘poem’ that Ivan 
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tells Alyosha.  In the chapter Jesus returns to earth during the Spanish Inquisition 

and is promptly arrested by the Grand Inquisitor who, recognizing him, asks, 

“Why, then, have you come to interfere with us?” (Dostoevsky 251) The central 

argument explores the freedom God has given man, which leads to injustice on 

earth.  Such injustice forces the Inquisitor to do the dirty work God will not involve 

himself with.  Following this attack the Inquisitor tells Jesus, “Tomorrow I shall 

burn you.” (Dostoevsky 260) Jesus, who has been silent for the entire scene, 

kisses the Inquisitor on the lips.  The Inquisitor then tells Jesus, “Go and do not 

come again […] do not come at all […] never, never!” (Dostoevsky 262) Ivan 

ends the story on a fascinating note: the inquisitor has felt his own faith proven, 

but still holds firmly to his idea of defeating freedom for the good of man.   

Dostoevsky saw this chapter as illustrative of his main argument in the 

novel: 

Christ’s law, they [the socialists] claim, is burdensome and abstract, 
and too heavy for weak people to bear—and instead of the law of 
Freedom and Enlightenment, they [the socialists] offer them [the 
poor] the law of chains and enslavement through [free] bread.  
(Frank 792) 

The “bread” is the promise of socialism that leads to “enslavement.”  

Freedom, for Dostoevsky, is the freedom to sin, but he and the Orthodox Church 

believe that man, when given the choice, will choose not to sin, if he believes in 

his immortal soul and eternal life in heaven.  Ivan believes that the prices of 

freedom and heaven are too high.  As he says in Clarvoe’s adaptation, “It isn’t 
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God I don’t accept, Alyosha.  But heaven costs too much.  I return my ticket.”  

(Clarvoe, The Brothers Karamazov 38) 

After I finished the book, and it did take a while, my wife mentioned the 

play again.  I read Anthony Clarvoe's adaptation close to the time I finished 

reading the novel and loved how simply he told the most important parts of the 

story.  I admired how contemporary he made the language sound as well.  The 

theatricality of his play clinched the deal.  The novel and play follow the structure 

of a murder mystery--which son murdered the patriarch of the family, Fyodor 

Karamazov.  Fyodor has three official sons and one bastard, Smerdyakov, who is 

ultimately guilty of the crime.  Each son feels guilty because each hoped to kill 

Fyodor.  After the murder, Clarvoe specifies that the actor playing the father, 

Fyodor, play roles of characters that haunt all the innocent sons.  The father 

becomes the Devil, “which wears a face […] that you know well,” (Clarvoe, The 

Brothers Karamazov 102)—a devil who looks like Fyodor and ultimately drives 

Ivan to confess to the crime, thus sealing Dmitri’s fate.  The actor playing the 

Father also becomes the face of a prisoner Alyosha forgives at the end of the 

play.  Through theatrical metaphor, each son is forgiven by or forgives their 

father, a beautiful idea I found emotionally powerful and one I hoped to give the 

audience.   

Clarvoe also put a great deal of humor in the play from the novel.  Prior to 

graduate school I spent four years performing improvisation comedy and had 
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developed a good ear for it.  If I was going to tell a story like this one--patricide, 

questions of goodness and faith--then I had better include a good sense of 

humor.  Clarvoe had it.  Here is a good example of such humor: 

Alyosha: You’ve thought a great deal about our Savior, haven’t 
you? 

Ivan: I’m an atheist, Alyosha.  I think about God all the time. 
(Clarvoe, The Brothers Karamazov 94) 

I will leave the best summation of why the play interested me to the 

playwright himself.  On issues of religion and morality, Clarvoe stated in an 

interview in The Cincinnati Enquirer, “The public discourse in this nation on these 

questions (faith in a secular world) is appalling, ossified.  It’s done by people who 

have made up their minds.”  (Demaline) 

As a radically theatrical adaptation of a book filled with ideas that 

personally excited me, Clarvoe’s work became the perfect candidate for my 

thesis. 
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RESEARCH 

Methodology 

I began the daunting task of researching this play by examining the book, 

the play, and the writers of both.  This required focus and avoiding getting caught 

up in irrelevant details.   

Researching such a well-documented source as Dostoevsky’s The 

Brothers Karamazov required focus.  I could easily get lost in the complexity of 

the life he lived or the philosophy of the book.  Both elements were important to 

consider, but I needed to focus on relevant moments or ideas to tell the story 

clearly and not get lost. 

First, the novel loomed.  The text I read was 776 pages long; the play, 

110.  Clearly Clarvoe had to cut a great deal to tell this story in a reasonable 

amount of time.  When I picked the play I knew that my job was to stage the play 

and not the book.  The challenging question became how much I should study 

the novel.  I used the same approach on this as I did to research the life and 

work of the two authors--find what was relevant to the script.  I reread the very 

long and dense novel in preparation for the production, underlining passages 

which felt relevant or brought a character to life in a fuller way.  In retrospect, this 

approach was not the best use of my time.  I should have focused on selections 

which were relevant to the events of the play and not reread parts of the novel 

Clarvoe did not explore.  I believe this key choice lead to the difficulties I faced in 
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this production.   I should have spent more time on script analysis than on the 

fascinating, historical, literary research available to me.   

Dostoevsky's life is almost as long and complicated as the book itself.  My 

main source for biographical information came from Joseph Frank’s exhaustive 

five-book work the New York Times called, “a monumental achievement.”  

(Scammell) Frank explored Dostoevsky’s life within the context of the period, 

which helped me a great deal.   

I tried to focus on events that thematically related to the book--the death of 

Dostoevsky’s father, the death of his son, his own transition from believer to non-

believer back to believer.  Dostoevsky’s life is reflected in The Brothers 

Karamazov.  Arther Trace, in Furnace of Doubt, states this is a novel, “one must 

know if one wants to know Dostoevsky.” (Trace 8)  

Looking into the work of Anthony Clarvoe was not as difficult. He 

generously made himself available to me.  I approached his work by reading a 

number of plays he had written, looking for themes and characters that overlap.  I 

interviewed him myself and made use of newspaper articles written to promote 

the original productions of the plays in St. Louis and Cincinnati.  

When directing an adaptation of a novel a tension between source 

material and the play arises.  If I were to direct the play again I would put most of 

my energies into the play and not the book.  I spent too much time rereading the 

novel for clues on the characters.  Clarvoe did all that work and, while my 
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knowledge of the book was helpful in rehearsal, it got in the way of the process 

and lead to heady discussions with the actors rather than useful work.  My 

approach now would be to read the book, but perhaps not reread it.  I would 

steer all actors’ concerns to the script.  When I started rehearsing the play I 

thought I was doing that, but I have always been an avid reader of this kind of 

material and having the chance to talk about the ideas and characters was 

probably too good to pass up.   

When I started rehearsals I knew the book better than the play.  This was 

the wrong kind of preparation.  My mindset, as I approached the play, veered 

towards themes and ideas, and the structure and rhythms of the actual play 

remained clouded enough that I was unable to fully identify those moments in the 

rehearsal process when the story was not told.  

Fyodor Dostoevsky 

"It is not as a child that I believe and confess Jesus Christ. My hosanna is born of a 
furnace of doubt." 

---Dostoevsky. 

I was most interested in understanding Dostoevsky’s life before and while 

writing The Brothers Karamazov--where did his ideas come from, what life 

experience they did they spring from, what shaped his thinking to create this epic 

work.  In researching this, it became clear that he put a little of himself in every 

character.  At various moments in writing the novel he was as earnest and 

devout as Alyosha, as cynical as Ivan, and both prisoner and soldier like Dmitri.   
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The story of the Karamazov family reflects much of Dostoevsky’s life.  

Arther Trace states: 

The Brothers Karamazov marks the culmination, not only of 
Dostoevsky's thought, but of his art, to the point in fact that one can 
almost say that Dostoevsky is The Brothers Karamazov. (Trace 49) 

Fyodor Dostoevsky was born October 30, 1821, the second of seven 

siblings.  Of all the children, he was closest to his older brother Mikhail.  Their 

relationship, like all ties in the family, was very intense and extremely close.    

The family was barely able to keep up the appearance of wealth that their class 

required.  His father was an ex-army surgeon and raised his family in the very 

strict Russian Orthodox Church.  Later in life Dostoevsky had a hard time relating 

socially with people because of how closed off his family was.  He tended to 

expect way too much of people, or wanted nothing to do with them.  (Frank) 

In 1837, Dostoevsky's mother died.  Like the boys in Karamazov, he was 

left with no mother.  Because of his father's wishes he studied engineering in 

Moscow, with no passion for it.  This led to a great deal of resentment toward his 

father, whom he saw mainly as a source of money.  In 1839, under strange 

circumstances, his father was murdered. Dostoevsky was devastated by this 

loss.  His financial debts to and estrangement from his father made him feel 

responsibility for his death. As Joseph Frank speculates, 
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Dostoevsky may have been overwhelmed by a shock of guilt and 
remorse on hearing of his father’s death and learning its cause. The 
uneasiness he had felt all through this period—an uneasiness 
caused both by his failure to gain promotion and by the awareness 
that he was exploiting his father’s meager resources to appease his 
craving for social status—could have suddenly exploded in a frenzy 
of self-accusation. (Frank 49)  

His preoccupation with fathers, sons and mutual responsibility might be 

traced back to this event. 

In 1843 he finished his formal education at a military engineering 

academy.  He immediately started his career as a writer, a career he had 

dreamed of.   

His debut novel in 1846, Poor Folk, made a huge mark in the Russian 

literary world.  He had moved away from writing the romantic fantasy of his first 

short stories toward a depiction of social utopianism.  This is part of a period in 

his writing when he had an optimistic view of Man.   His beliefs corresponded 

with the Socialist views of the intellectual elite of St. Petersburg.  After the 

success of Poor Folk, Dostoevsky was immediately brought into the intellectual 

circles of St. Petersburg.  (Frank 65) 

In the 1840’s, many young Russian literati made a name for themselves 

by founding a group, a circle of thinkers, to champion their ideas.  This circle of 

critics, scholars, and writers would sometimes celebrate a newcomer, defend and 

introduce him to others, just as they did for Dostoevsky. 

As Dostoevsky moved into these intellectual circles, many literary critics 

began to lionize him.  This included Vissarion Belinsky who invited Dostoevsky to 
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join his circle of friends.  Belinsky is credited with discovering Nikolai Gogol, one 

of the most important writers of this period, and Belinsky’s group was well 

attended by the greatest writers of the time.  Dostoevsky was beside himself to 

be included into the so-called Belinsky Pleiade. (Frank 85) 

Dostoevsky credits Belinsky with converting him to atheism.  (Frank 119) 

Belinsky also encouraged him toward the socially realistic direction of his writing 

and beliefs.  

Problems started soon in this professional relationship.  When Dostoevsky 

wrote the short story, The Landlady, which followed romantic literary 

conventions, the two men clashed.  Other conflicts followed.  His obtuseness 

(brought about by the lack of social interaction in the way he was raised) and his 

own extreme vanity caused extreme and unsociable reactions for which he was 

constantly criticized.  Even when Ivan Turgenev, who wrote Fathers and Sons, 

seemed to take a liking to Dostoevsky, he constantly misread Turgenev’s humor 

and the two clashed.   

Early in 1847, Dostoevsky formally split with the Belinsky circle.  This was 

a rough transition for the young writer.  He felt very isolated and this might have 

contributed to him moving into the Petraskvsky group, a group which would 

eventually be arrested en mass.  (Frank, 136) 

Mikhail Petrashevsky was a scholar-socialist who ran a discussion group 

out of his home.  His friendship with Dostoevsky was contentious.  Dostoevsky 
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did not like the way Petrashevsky mocked religious faith.  His group had 

stronger, extreme leftist leanings.  Dostoevsky often joked that he was there, “to 

play at liberalism, because, you see, which of us mortals does not enjoy playing 

that game,” (Frank 139) and was not particularly revolutionary but believed in 

socialism.   

During the age of Nicholas I, all political groups were under a very 

watchful eye.  In this climate, as revolutions were brewing in Europe, being 

involved in an overtly political group was dangerous.   

The creation of a secret leftist press, headed by Nikolia Speshnev (a 

young intellectual, recently back from Europe, who was able to inspire others 

toward his leftist views) shifted the group into dangerous territory.  The group 

was arrested on April 23, 1849.  Dostoevsky was caught up in the arrest because 

of his own financial problems.  He had taken a loan from Speshnev and felt that 

even if he wanted to separate himself from Speshnev he would not be able to, 

“For I have taken money from Speshnev […] and now I am with him and his. I’ll 

never be able to pay back such a sum, yes, and he wouldn’t take the money 

back; that’s the kind of man he is.” (Frank 152) 

The Petrashevsky group was charged with subversion (Frank 159). 

Dostoyevsky was deemed one of the ringleaders and condemned to death.  On 

the morning of December 22, they were taken to the firing squad.  Before the 

shots were fired however, it was announced that their sentences were commuted 
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by imperial decree.  (Frank 171) This tortuous scare tactic worked on 

Dostoevsky. Never again was Dostoevsky to flirt with leftist, radical politics.   

He was sentenced to four years hard labor and four more years as a 

soldier.  On December 24th he went to Omsk penal settlement in Siberia.  While 

in prison, his close contact with criminals guilty of appalling atrocities rid him of 

his utopian views of society.  (Trace 15)  His prison experience reinforced his 

religious Orthodoxy--only by saving the soul could society save itself.  After this 

shaping event, all his major subsequent novels dealt with crime and faith. 

Prior to his time in Siberia, Dostoevsky wrote of the poor and desperate.  

Most of his characters were unrealistically good.  He realized in prison that his 

early vision of the goodness of Man was an illusion.  Arther Trace expounds on 

this: 

As a result of this experience [Siberia], Dostoevsky never again 
allowed himself to be deluded into believing that human nature is 
as good as the European Enlighteners, the German Romantics […] 
and his Russian revolutionary ex-friends said that it was.  (Trace 
15) 

After serving time both in hard labor and as a soldier, on December 16, 

1859, Dostoevsky was released to St. Petersburg.  His great work of this period, 

Crime and Punishment written in 1866, illustrates one of the major thematic 

concerns of The Brothers Karamazov--intellectual ideas versus faith and 

salvation.  In Crime and Punishment, the main character, Raskolnikov, reasons 

himself into committing murder.  By the end, though he gets away with the 

murder, he repents, then confesses to the authorities.  His crime was not born of 
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passion, but was thought out rationally, illustrating Dostoevsky’s belief that one 

bad idea can kill an entire civilization.   

Basically what Dostoevsky wanted to demonstrate is that bad ideas 
are vastly more destructive than bad passions, not only to 
individuals but to society generally and indeed to civilization itself.  
(Trace 51) 

Dostoevsky illustrates this again in The Brothers Karamazov by having the 

passionate man, Dmitri, innocent, while putting the guilt on a man who acts out 

an idea, Smerdyakov.  

In 1871, he returned to St. Petersburg to begin work on his greatest 

achievement, The Brothers Karamazov.   

His son, Aleksey or Alyosha died on May 16, 1878.  He died of epilepsy 

inherited from his father.  Dostoevsky put his name as the hero of The Brothers 

Karamazov and gave his character all the qualities in humanity he held dear.  

(Frank 768) 

In 1879 a serialized version of The Brothers Karamazov began to be 

released across Russia; it would conclude in 1880.  The serial was an immediate 

success and allowed Dostoevsky to discharge the debt that had plagued him all 

his life.  His financial independence was short lived—he died January 28, 1881.   

For my production, I focused on the key events that shaped his creation of 

the Karamazov family--his father’s murder, his mother’s absence, his own 

struggles with faith, the death of his child, Alyosha, his struggles as a prisoner 

and soldier, and his difficulties with money.  The central question in Dostoevsky’s 
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life remains how man can be good.  The Brothers Karamazov is his final attempt 

to answer this question.  In his final novel he concludes that man can be saved 

only through faith.  (Trace 32) 

The Brothers Karamazov becomes the grand, philosophical exploration of 

this very personal question and final answer. 

Anthony Clarvoe 

“Not only have I wanted to hit my father with large objects, but I've been hit by large 
objects by my child.”   

--- Anthony Clarvoe 

I approached Anthony Clarvoe the same way I approached Dostoevsky—

finding how his life connected to his work.  Clarvoe’s adaptation focused on the 

Karamazov family, organizing the play into three parts, one for each of the 

“official” brothers.  He used the family as a focal point for exploring the bigger 

themes of the novel.  In looking at his previous work, interviews he has given in 

newspapers, and my own meeting with him, I found that his way into the material 

was very personal, as the above quote illustrates.   

I met with Anthony Clarvoe in July of 2004 to discuss the play and his 

work as a writer.  Two points from that interview influenced my thinking about the 

production the most.  The first point was that he intended to take this classic 

book of its time and make it feel contemporary.  Frankly I had a hard time 

noticing this until I met with him.  I had thought that the play read like a naturalist 
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play, in a Chekhovian style.  I found out during that interview that he wanted the 

play to feel like a modern painting adaptation of the classic text.   

He also spoke about a language I really understand--music.  I asked him 

what kind of music he listened to while writing it and he mentioned Bebop jazz 

and the work of Arvo Pärt.  After speaking with him and listening to the music, I 

understood the specific contemporary style of the play.   

Clarvoe is interested in the big questions.  He outlined them in an 

interview in The Cincinnati Inquirer, “Religion, family hood, victimization and 

survival, making a place for self in the world, the meaning of goodness.” 

(Demaline)  He feels there is a need for a clear, open discussion of God and the 

crisis of faith in a secular world. 

Clarvoe, like Dostoevsky, uses art to pose large thematic questions in his 

version of The Brothers Karamazov.  These themes, among others, appear in 

Clarvoe’s other works as well.  For example, the brothers each feel a 

responsibility toward the death of their father, Ivan more so than anyone, 

because he gave Smerdyakov the idea.  In Clarvoe’s play, Show and Tell, a 

student brings to school one of his grandfather’s live landmines from the Korean 

War.  The bomb goes off killing all the children in the room.  The teacher, who 

leaves the classroom for a brief moment, survives.  She, like Ivan, fears that 

somehow her thoughts lead to dreadful consequences.  She states, “I put 
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something in his mind.  It started ticking.  That was the cause of this whole thing.  

My cause.” (163) 

Another example from the same play illustrates Clarvoe’s concern with 

God’s justice.  In Clarvoe’s Karamazov Ivan, speaking of God, says, “We know 

what justice is, you and I know.  Why doesn't He?” (Clarvoe, The Brothers 

Karamazov 39)  One of the bereaved mothers in Show and Tell could be quoting 

Ivan when she says, “It's high time – high time – someone taught God about 

justice.” (157)  Show and Tell premiered in 1991, four years before his adaption 

of Karamazov.  

Another one of Clarvoe’s plays, The Living, revolves around the theme of 

human interaction, interconnection and contact.  Set during the London plague, 

when people avoided human contact for fear of spreading the disease, Vincent 

(the only clergy to stay) asks God, “What do you want of us now? … We do not 

know what you want.”  (58)  Vincent is looking for logic or justice in God's acts.  

This questioning of God permeates Clarvoe’s work and in The Brothers 

Karamazov, he finds an elegant way to express it.  As Clarvoe states about the 

novel “It addresses a whole lot of things I’ve been thinking about for a whole long 

time.  Only better.” (Demaline) 

Clarvoe chose elements of the book that suited him.  As I’ve illustrated 

above, the book’s themes were ones that Clarvoe was already interested in when 

the idea of adapting it was presented to him.  Brian Kulick, the director of the 
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original production, gave him the idea to adapt the novel and told him, “I think it’s 

your book.”  (Demaline)  Clarvoe filtered the play down to concerns he had in his 

mind, “What was most central in the book were unresolvable issues I never got 

tired of mulling over.”  (Demaline) 
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SCRIPT ANALYSIS 

Script Architecture 

When adapting a novel of this size, exploring and understanding the plot 

structure becomes a cardinal undertaking.  Clarvoe must have been very aware 

of this and, as I’ve mentioned before, built his play around a three act structure 

with an act assigned to each brother.  It allowed all three brothers to become the 

collective protagonist, while allowing the audience one hero to follow in each act-

-Act I for Alyosha, Act II for Dmitri, and Act III for Ivan.   

In our interview, Clarvoe also mentioned he wanted each act to have its 

own tone and atmosphere and he was not worried about them clashing or feeling 

unified.  This helped make the play feel even larger.  The audience sees an 

innocent hero (Alyosha) go on a journey to meet his family in Act I.  His journey 

allows us to meet all the characters and get all the exposition we need.  Act II is 

all passion as Dmitri seduces Grushenka and violently pursues all his rivals, 

including his father.  Act III is the investigation of the murder, led by Ivan who is a 

journalist.  Like Oedipus, Ivan finds he is the criminal that he is looking for.  The 

three brother structure works well to keep the show’s narrative organized, while 

allowing the audience to experience different ways of storytelling through 

different protagonists’ points of view.   

What follows are the events and the spine I laid out before rehearsals 

began.  The lack of causality between some of the events may account for 



21 

 

 

difficulties I faced in the rehearsal process.  An individual without prior knowledge 

of the show should be able to read these events and follow along, but this is not 

the case for this analysis.  I have left them as they were, imperfect, to remind me 

of why this work is important.  What follows is my own work in structuring the play 

in preparation for production: 

• Spine of the play:  Everyone is trying to be good.  They measure this by their 

connections to people.  Each wants to strengthen their connection to family.  

Zosima sends Alyosha to his family, Smerdyakov kills Fyodor to earn the love 

of his brothers, Dmitri believes that if he creates a new family with Katya it will 

redeem him.  Fyodor, for all his faults, wants to be at home with his sons and 

he truly wants to live out his days with them, on his own terms of course.   

• Events:  

• 1.1 – The brothers meet for the first time (this is a major difference 

with the book), Dmitri is disinherited by his father, Zosima sends 

Alyosha into the world.   

• 1.2 – Dmitri leaves Katya with her money. 

• 1.3 – Dmitri and Grushenka discover each other, and it is hot. 

• 1.4 – Grushenka returns Katya's money, and they fight 

• 1.5 – Alyosha goes home, Zosima dies, Ivan tells Smerdyakov that 

he's going to Moscow. 

• 2.1.1 – Zosima's body rots. 
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• 2.1.2 – Rakitin tempts Alyosha to Grushenka's 

• 2.2 – Samsonov tells Dmitri that Grushenka left. 

• 2.3 – Dmitri hits Smerdyakov, visits his father, looking for Grushenka. 

• 2.4 – Grushenka tries to tempt Alyosha, but learns she's good. 

• 2.5.1 – Dmitri scares Fenya, discovers Grushenka has left. 

• 2.5.2 – Dmitri reclaims his pistols 

• 2.5.3 – Dmitri wakes up Grushenka 

• 2.6 – Dmitri seduces Grushenka, is arrested for the death of his 

father. 

• 3.1.1 – Rakitan gives a press conference. 

• 3.1.2 – Dmitri does not confess to the crime of killing his father. 

• 3.2 – Ivan tempts Alyosha to admit he wanted his father dead.  

Alyosha tells Ivan that Smerdyakov did it. 

• 3.3 – Ivan visits Smerdyakov, denies having anything to do with his 

father's death 

• 3.4.1 – Ivan tries to get Katya to withhold her evidence to save Dmitri 

• 3.4.2 – Katya hides the evidence in court 

• 3.5.1 – Grushenka tells Dmitri that he saved them both from 

committing murder 

• 3.5.2 – Alyosha tries to convince Ivan that he did not kill his father.   
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• 3.6 – Smerdyakov discovers that it was his own idea to kill Fyodor.  

Gives the money to Ivan. 

• 3.7.1 – Ivan refuses the devil 

• 3.7.2 – Ivan confesses at the trial, Katya saves Ivan, damning Dmitri 

• 3.8 – Everyone leaves, Alyosha forgives his father/self 

I, then, outlined the structure of the overall plot.  I use terms derived 

from Oscar Brockett, theater critic and historian.   

• Story begins:  Fyodor abandons his children.  

• Point of Attack:  Alyosha with Father Zosima 

• Inciting Incident:  Dmitri hits Fyodor and threatens to kill him. 

Fyodor then sells Dmitri's debts.  This raises the major dramatic 

question: will/did Dmitri kill his father? 

• Climax:  Ivan tries to take the blame for killing Fyodor, but Katya 

saves him by providing damning evidence against Dmitri, convicting 

him for the murder of his father. 

• Resolution:  Alyosha plans Dmitri's escape.  Alyosha confronts a 

beggar, who is the image of his father, and gives what he can.  This 

gives us the image of him forgiving the father. 

• Major Dramatic Question:  Who killed Fyodor Karamazov? 

• Thematic Question:  Can you forgive and be forgiven?   
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• Structure specific to each act: 

• Act I:  Alyosha 

• Inciting Incident – Leaving father Zosima 

• Climax – Hears of Zosima’s death 

• Act II:  Dmitri 

• Inciting Incident – Learns that Grushenka has left, or he 

goes to his father.   

• Climax – Gets Grushenka back, at the same moment is 

arrested for the murder of his father.   

• Act III:  Ivan 

• Inciting Incident – Alyosha tells Ivan that Smerdyakov 

killed father 

• Climax – Ivan tries to confess at trial, at that same 

moment, Katya saves Ivan by providing damning 

evidence against Dmitri.   

As stated above, this is the script analysis I used in rehearsals.  If doing 

the play now, I would do much more work.  At the time, I spent too much energy 

on the book, the themes, the characters and not enough time with the script.  I 

left too much vague or did not explore enough to find the perfect arc. 
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For example, the thematic question is not specific.  Since this production, I 

have learned to come up with more possibilities to choose from.   

The events, as I laid them out before the production, were not clear.  Each 

event, ideally, should bring us to the next event--cause and effect--until the 

climax.  I was not inaccurate, just not specific in how they lead from one to the 

other.  Now I would make sure they, on their own, as a list, can tell the story.   

I realize now, by doing the clearest work possible, event by event, I am 

much quicker at identifying problems and specific solutions.  If I know what needs 

to happen in the scene, specifically, so I can get to the next, I can always ask if 

that is happening.  If it is not, why?  Then, there is no mystery. 

I feel that the lack of specificity was a direct cause of many of the 

problems I faced with the actors during rehearsals. 

Characters 

Like the script analysis section, this is the character work I did going into 

rehearsals.   It was not specific enough for me to know throughout the rehearsal 

what was working in the actor’s work.   

Fyodor Karamazov 

Objective:  To get his sons' love on his own terms. 

• He is a demon of a man, a total sensualist.  He loves disruption of 

ideas and has no philosophical compass.  He cannot believe in God 

because he knows he is too selfish. “I'm afraid to believe in God.  If 
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there is a just God, I'm in the shit.  It's Him or me.” (Clarvoe, The 

Brothers Karamazov 38) He cannot help but destroy those around him 

when he feels afraid of being judged poorly.  If he feels stupid or 

inadequate, he lashes out.  More than anything he wants to feel 

redemption without having to change or sacrifice anything.  He'd rather 

corrupt others to his level than raise himself up theirs. 

• At the end of his life he selfishly pursues his goal with no remorse for 

how it makes his children feel.  He treats Smerdyakov as a servant and 

a fool.  He wants Grushenka as much for her as for what it will do to 

Dmitri.   

• In the world of the play, he is the creature of infinite wants.  His 

greatest fear is to stop wanting “It's all about wanting.  That's the great 

thing.  The want.”  (Clarvoe, The Brothers Karamazov 36) 

Alyosha 

Objective: He wants to purify the sin he sees in himself, to hide from the 

world and his family.  The sin he feels most strongly is that of hating his father 

and wishing him dead.  He tells Ivan that he went to be a monk, “So he would 

never have a weapon in his hand.” (Clarvoe, The Brothers Karamazov 80)  

Obstacle: He is afraid others will see the sin that lives in him and that he is 

a fraud.   
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• He is a naive young man who has put himself in a monastery so that 

the temptations of the world do not affect him.  His greatest fear is 

becoming his father.  He desires to forgive this man, as he knows he 

should, but he is unable until the end of the play.  After Fyodor teases 

him rather harshly he says, “Sometimes, Father … you make it difficult 

to love you as much as I should.”  (Clarvoe, The Brothers Karamazov 

35) 

• He wants to save his brothers and himself from his father.   

• When tempted by Grushenka he overcomes the sin by finding what 

was good in her, and saves her from a murder she says she will 

commit.  He does the same for Dmitri. 

• His elder sends him into the world to save this family.  Zosima says the 

family needs Alyosha to witness their goodness.  “They need to see 

you listening to them.  They are trying to be good.  It is easier to be 

good if you know someone is listening.” (Clarvoe, The Brothers 

Karamazov 14) 

• He and Grushenka are the only ones who see that Dmitri is innocent.   

• In the end he forgives himself for hating his father first by confessing.  

“Who wanted to kill him as much as his sons?” (Clarvoe, The Brothers 

Karamazov 82) And by going on a pilgrimage he is able then to forgive 

the image of his father at the end. 
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Dmitri 

Objective: To redeem his life. To be a good person.  To stop himself from 

becoming his father.  “I won’t do what you did.  I won’t be like you.” (Clarvoe, The 

Brothers Karamazov 10) 

Obstacle: He believes that he is exactly like his father.  “Why did I think I 

could love another human being with my body full of Karamazov blood?  And I 

thought I was being good!  I didn’t know what I was doing! … What father does.  

She’s better than me.  So I had to ruin her.” (Clarvoe, The Brothers Karamazov 

19) 

• A soldier, a doer.  His name is derived from Demeter, the earth.  He is 

basically a good man.  His innocence in his father's death proves this 

point more than anything. 

• Falls in love with Grushenka.   

• Is willing to be punished for killing his father because he believes it will 

redeem him.   

Ivan 

Objective:  He also wants to be good.  Believes there can be no goodness 

without faith.  He connects his atheism with his feelings for his father.  Since he 

cannot love his father, he cannot accept God.  “My icon of divine order is a 

Creator who brings a son into the world to live in poverty and neglect, driven 

through His Father’s fallen world, hounded toward death, who in the end looks up 
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and says, ‘Father, why have you forsaken me?’ Oh, how I believe it.” (Clarvoe, 

The Brothers Karamazov 39)  Ivan’s atheism is personal.   

Obstacle: He is troubled by what his ideas mean in the world.  “Alyosha: ‘If 

nothing is true, then everything is permitted.’  There’s a name for this. … Satan.” 

(Clarvoe, The Brothers Karamazov 39)  Since later in the play Ivan sees the 

devil, it implies that he fears his own ideas.  Zosima sees this truth in Ivan.  “You 

divert yourself with arguments you don’t believe, and you ache for an answer, 

and you fear the answer will come.” (Clarvoe, The Brothers Karamazov 8)    

• He is a thinker, a journalist, someone who does not participate in the 

world, but observes with judgment rather than empathy.  He assumes 

that Dmitri did the murder because he cannot see past his own nature.  

He fails to see Smerdyakov because of his own responsibility for it.  

“Ivan: I had nothing to do with father’s death.  Smerdyakov: How 

awkward to have to keep saying that.” (Clarvoe, The Brothers 

Karamazov 86) 

• He wants Katya but does not want to be a man who wants women.  He 

is afraid of his own desires because he does not want to be like his 

father.   

Smerdyakov 

Objective: Wants to be a brother and son, thus proving his worth in the 

eyes of the world and himself. 
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Obstacle:  He doesn't want to seem needy or more pathetic than he is. 

• He loves and hates his father more than any of the brothers.  He is 

certainly closer to Fyodor since he was raised almost completely in his 

care even if as a servant.  The other brothers have an intellectual 

hatred of their father; they hate the very idea of him, but don't know 

him very well.  Smerdyakov knows Fyodor very well. 

• He lives out the philosophical ideas of Ivan:  “If we truly do not believe 

in God we must live outside His law.  We must live only by the Law of 

the Self, and find our Heaven and Hell on Earth.” (Clarvoe, The 

Brothers Karamazov 7)  “If nothing is true, then everything is 

permitted.” (Clarvoe, The Brothers Karamazov 39) 

• He kills himself when he realizes that he was alone, truly alone in his 

willingness to kill Fyodor.  “But that would mean that-I acted alone!  All 

alone!  Me!  Just … me. (Clarvoe, The Brothers Karamazov 97)  He did 

the murder so that he could be a true brother, but discovers that he is a 

murderer.  “Am I as different from a human being as that?”   (Clarvoe, 

The Brothers Karamazov 98) 

Katya 

Objective:  Wants to prove her worth in the charity she does in the world. 
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Obstacle: Afraid of anything that even appears improper.  Therefore, her 

version of good is on the surface.  She learns from Ivan’s sacrifice what 

goodness is. 

• We first see her giving to the poor.  She treats Dmitri as a charity case. 

• She expects good back for charity and when it is not given, lashes out, 

“Slut!  That was charity!”  This to Grushenka who brings the money 

Katya gave to Dmitri. 

Grushenka 

Objective: To bring the rest of the world down to her level.   

Obstacle: Refuses to be under anyone’s power ever again.  Has a strong 

desire for revenge. 

• She likes collecting the debts of men, so she can be in control of them. 

• Wants to seduce Alyosha to prove there is no good in the world. He 

shows her there is goodness, specifically in men. 

• Dmitri shows her that she does not need to live for revenge, or justice 

in this world. 

Conclusion 

Like the work on script analysis, my work on character analysis was not 

effective.  It was not specific and I did not spend enough time developing the 

ideas.  I went with my first thought, with no in-depth exploration.  This did not 

work.  There were times when I could not tell what was wrong with the actor’s 
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work, fully knowing there was a major problem.  The details are everything and I 

missed them. 

I also failed to acknowledge what was at stake for each character.  That 

led to generalized performances without as much passion or urgency as was 

needed.    

Genre 

The show is a murder mystery and I should have focused more on that 

aspect of the play.  Great works reveal their ideas through wonderfully structured 

plots:  Hamlet is a murder mystery as is Oedipus Rex.  Plot reveals theme.  

Dostoevsky and Clarvoe make both reader and audience believe that Dmitri is 

the killer on purpose, holding on to the revelation that Smerdyakov is the actual 

murderer till the very last minute. When Dostoevsky finally reveals Smerdyakov 

as the true criminal we, the readers, have already condemn Dmitri.  The final 

revelation of Smerdyakov’s guilt drives the point home that the passionate man is 

not as dangerous as the rational man. Likewise, Clarvoe uses the same plot 

structure and suspense to make the audience guess and invest on the 

“whodunit” of the play plot, only to drive home the point that rational ideas may 

be more dangerous than passion, thus, revealing one of the themes of the play.   
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Conventions 

Noticing the conventions Clarvoe used in the script helped me identify the 

style of the play.  He gave several clues—use of contemporary language, 

multiple character casting, and multiple locales. 

I did not understand the nature of the Clarvoe’s adaptation early in the 

process.  I assumed that an adaptation of a Dostoevsky novel would result in the 

realism of a Chekov or Ibsen play.  Not until my conversation with Clarvoe did I 

understand that he was trying to strip the conventions of period out of the text.  

He was adapting the novel into a contemporary, minimalist play—closer to Pinter 

or Mamet.  He was not interested in creating a show with the dramatic 

conventions of the period.  

Clarvoe’s use of double casting created characters who lived as broad 

stroke sketches rather than fully detailed individuals.  For example, the actor 

playing Fyodor reappears as the judge overseeing Dmitri’s trial, the Devil, and 

the beggar that Alyosha forgives at the end of the play.  While Fyodor, the father, 

has the full resonance of a three-dimensional character, Clarvoe wanted the face 

of the actor to become a theatrical metaphor--a ghost image of the father to 

haunt the sons; we then see the guilt they feel for hating their devil of a father, 

who they wish dead.  Dmitri does not resist the condemnation of the judge—a 

judge who bears his father’s face; Ivan tries to confess after the Devil (again the 

face of the father) convinces him of his own guilt; Alyosha bows to a beggar 
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whose face Clarvoe describes as, “[…] Fyodor Karamazov’s.”  (Clarvoe, The 

Brothers Karamazov 110)  While Fyodor can exist as a fully realistic character, 

the judge, the Devil and the beggar all function as metaphors—thematic 

presences to harken back to the larger symbolism of the father—and their 

recurring presence moves the play away from the conventions of realism.  

Clarvoe’s conventions also called for the use of multiple locales in a unit 

set.  Scene 7 in Act III best exemplified the style Clarvoe aimed at.  The scene, a 

conversation between Ivan and the Devil, starts in Ivan’s room.  Within the 

scene, the locale changes with a theatrical fluidity that makes the use of full set 

changes impossible:  

Ivan: Get out. 

Devil: So be it.  You come, too. 

Ivan: Where are we going? 

Devil: Dmitri’s trial   

(Clarvoe, The Brothers Karamazov 103) 

And with that small conversation the locale changes from Ivan’s room ad 

to Dmitri’s trial.  Clarvoe must not intend for Ivan’s room to be a fully realized, 

realistic set that switches to another fully realized, realistic set for the trial.  

Clarvoe wants the set changes to be fluid, hinted at, metaphorical, rather than 

realistic, supporting a contemporary, minimalistic style rather than traditional 

realism.   
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These three conventions led the production design and acting choices we 

made.  There were many more discoveries about the style of the play made in 

rehearsal and in the design process, which I will detail later. 
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DESIGN PROCESS 

Approach  

I started using visual art to communicate ideas while at Mason Gross.  At 

some point Amy Saltz showed us a film on visual artists and it really took hold of 

me.  Paintings by Eric Fischl were a perfect visualization for a play called 

Serenading Louie by Lanford Wilson.  Fischl’s paintings evoked the emotional 

and visual world of the play and I successfully used those images to shape the 

design when I directed the show.  From that point on, rather than looking for 

historic or realistic research images that referred to the time period or culture of a 

play, I decided to use images created by artists or photographers from the period 

that captured the visual essence of that particular dramatic work.  It is a habit I 

have kept since then that originated in this production.   

I set about looking for images that would help me shape the world of the 

play visually.  David Kaplan, a faculty member who was teaching “Acting 

Shakespeare,” but who was an expert in Russian theater, led me to the works of 

the Itinerants, a school of 19th century painters that sought to paint Russian life 

as it was really happening.  The Itinerants were trying to move away from the 

Romantic style of painting toward a more realistic representation.  The same 

interest in realism in painting was happening in literature.  The Itinerants proved 

to be a great documentary source which gave me social and historical images of 

Russia at the time of the novel. One painter really stood out, Ilya Repin.  His work 
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seemed to fit Dostoevsky’s world, particularly his painting, Ivan the Terrible and 

his Son, 1885. 

 

Figure 1 – Ivan the Terrible and His Son Ivan on 

Friday, November 16, 1581 

This painting perfectly evokes the play.  It depicts the aftermath of Ivan’s 

murder of his son.  The viewer sees a human being past whatever passion or 

rash choice caused this violence.  The viewer sees Ivan after the recognition of 

his act, his eyes staring out with regret, horror, and fear.  The image of a father 

cradling the son he has just murdered evokes the troubles of the Karamazov 

family.   

The design evolved in stages.  The first ideas were rooted in the reality of 

the history and place.  I looked at realistic paintings of the period and tried to find 
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images that evoked the characters in the book.  At this stage we were still 

dealing with realistic images.   

My advisor, Amy Saltz, mentioned that the paintings I was showing her 

looked too realistic for the style of the script.  I think I was failing to see the 

connection because the paintings that inspired me were good for the book and 

not for the play.  Therefore, I did not see what she meant. I did not know that 

something was missing, stylistically, when I went to meet with Anthony Clarvoe.  

Clarvoe and I talked a great deal about the structure he chose (using each 

brother for an act) and why he adapted the book but the most interesting moment 

came from a question about music and, as I stated before, this topic lead to the 

biggest break-through in the design process.  I asked Clarvoe what music he 

listened to while writing and when he mentioned Miles Davis and Arvo Pärt, it 

made a lot of the elements much clearer.  I then said that from what he told me it 

seemed he wanted the play to be contemporary, atonal, and passionate.  He said 

yes.  On the train ride home I reread the play and had a much better 

understanding of its tone and style.  Amy Saltz’s comment about the style of the 

play suddenly made sense.  This meeting was easily the most important break-

through in my understanding of the style of the adaptation.  Prior to this meeting, 

I was trying to direct the book.  From this point on, I started directing the play.   

I listened to Arvo Pärt and almost immediately understood what tone 

Clarvoe was talking about.  Pärt pulls his music from a strong tradition of sacred, 



39 

 

 

Russian classical music, but mixes it with modern minimalist aesthetics, which is 

what Clarvoe did with Dostoevsky’s play.  He took a classic play and filtered it 

through a minimalist contemporary vision.   

I then went back to the paintings I had been looking at and realized that 

they were wrong for the play.  Wrong, because they had too much detail, they 

were too realistic.  The paintings were the novel.  The play was stripping details 

from the novel, I tried to do the same by taking details from the paintings, using 

Photoshop.  Manipulating images with Photoshop was something I had been 

doing in Mitch Dana’s Light Design class.  He liked to have a strong, central 

image turned in with a paper on our lighting concepts. 

I started with my favorite image for the show, the previously mentioned 

Ivan the Terrible and His Son, and I started reducing the number of colors in the 

image and did not stop until I got down to two colors.  I did this to get rid of 

details and to find a minimalist image of the paintings. 
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Figure 2 – Photoshop version of Ivan the Terrible 

and His Son 

Suddenly I had an image of shadow, light and of silhouettes; many of the 

images in the script were revealed in the adjusted image.  This image now 

revealed the feeling of the period but looked very contemporary.  I had, I felt, a 

firm understanding of the visual.  

The key thematic image that comes from the play is found in Act Three, 

Scene 7.  Ivan finally confronts the Devil who has been haunting him since the 

beginning of Act Three.  Here is the exchange: 

Devil: I can prove I don’t exist.  Shall I?  Let’s say this candle—this 
light, this illumination—is God.  A force of warmth and a power of 
destruction.  All right?  Now.  Let’s say that I, standing here, 
represent the material world. 

Ivan: Given you don’t exist, it’s a stretch. 

Devil: --separate from God, different in nature.  All right?  Now— 
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Ivan: Do I represent something? 

Devil: You stand for yourself.  It’s a stretch.  So there’s you: 
separate from the world, separate from God.  Observing.  So.  God, 
World, You: your image of the universe.  Now.  Tell me what’s 
behind me? 

Ivan: Nothing. 

Devil: In a way you’re right.  Look again. 

Ivan: I can’t see anything, besides, it’s dark. 

Devil: Is it? 

Ivan: You’re standing in front of the candle, you fool, you make a 
better door than a window, you’re casting a shadow. 

Devil: Yes.  And the shadow in question would be…me.  A hole, as 
an eloquent young man once said, in the light of the world.  Ivan 
Fyodorovich, if you think that the world is a solid thing, distant from 
God, that the world is a door not a window, a door to 
nowhere…why, then the very light by which you see the world must 
cast behind it a huge black thing the shape of the world and many 
times as large, which you have named Satan.  And which wears a 
face…that you know well. 

[…] 

Devil: When you come to believe that the world is the source of its 
own illumination, that you are in the world, and God is, too, then the 
world will be a window, clear as glass, and then there will be no 
shadow, because everything will be made of light. 

In simple language, Ivan has to accept that he himself and God exist in 

the same place, the world and that there is no separation between himself, God 

and the world. 

The image leads to a very practical visual language--shadow and light.  

Light became a metaphor for hope, goodness, and redemption in the play.  This 
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gave me several ideas that lead to key production choices.  It gave me the image 

for the costumes—a silhouette of the period, with few details.  Lea Anello, the set 

designer, said that the lights were there to guide the character's way out of 

darkness.  We started looking into old nautical maps of the sky because sailors 

used stars as a guide when there was nothing else.  These maps seemed like a 

practical image of the image of people lost in the world.  Later we found 19th 

century illustrations of an eclipse, which perfectly illustrates the image the Devil 

describes in the previous quote--light from the sun hitting the moon, casting a 

shadow on the world: God, Ivan, the world.  Thus, my central image aligned this 

way: 

Eclipse Sun Moon Shadow on the 

earth 

Ivan’s view of the 

world 

Light (God) Ivan Shadow of Ivan on 

the ground (Devil) 

 

All of this work translated into a unified production across all areas of 

design. 

Production 

I used the previously described images and ideas to unify the production.  

We had the image of the silhouette, which lead to minimalist costumes, set, and 

light design.  The costumes were to have few details of the period but evoke it.  

The set was purposely minimal with a table that was meant to be used in a 
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variety of ways.  And the lighting was designed to move from high contrast 

shadows in the beginning of the show to a set full of light by the end.  

Sound 

Music and visual art both speak very deeply to me.  In my work I usually 

find the work of one musician or composer to unify the production.   Arvo Pärt’s 

music became the soul of the play.   

The summer before rehearsals, my wife and I took a road trip to St. Louis, 

Missouri.  I spent hours in the car playing Pärt's music over and over again, 

finding a theme for each character.  What I most liked about Pärt’s music was 

that while it has minimalist elements, there is a sacred passion in his work.  

When describing Pärt’s music in a New York Times article, Arthur Lubow said 

that his work, “bears a whiff of church incense. Yet the compositions resonate 

profoundly for the unconverted as well as the faithful.” (Lubow) 

The song “Frates”, with its staccato violins, put a lot of energy into the 

scene changes.  I also used it to start the show.  We used sections from “Tabula 

Rasa” and “Symphony 3.”  For the final moment of the play we used the slowly 

building piece “Cantus in memorial for Benjamin Britton.”  This very legato piece 

builds slowly over six minutes until it peaks in a swelling climax.  I tried to get the 

lights to swell with the music, ultimately flooding the stage.  It was a musically 

beautiful way to end the show--both sacred and passionate--evoking God’s light 

flooding the earth. 
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The arrival of the sound designer, Karen Graybash, came quite late in the 

process so it was entirely up to me what music to use.  Karen was responsible 

for implementing my ideas, but the ideas were solely my own.   

Once I discovered his music, Part was as important an element as 

anything else in the production. His music was exciting, engaging, and 

communicated the tone and beauty of the story.  It helped to elevate the world of 

the play into the sacred. 

Set 

If I had to pick the most successful element of the production, I would say 

it was the set by Lea Anello.  The process of putting the images together, of 

finding the shadow and light visual concept was exciting and we did it together.  I 

measure other collaborations by how we work together.  Lea and I have worked 

together several times in the eight years since the production.   

I came to our first meetings with a practical wish list.  I wanted a unit set, 

several chairs, and one table that could roll into various locales with ease.  My 

goal was for the play to never stop for scene changes, which should grow 

organically from one scene to the next.  

Having a rolling table able to do everything I wanted turned out to be way 

more complicated than I anticipated.  I wanted it to roll freely so we could make 

the transitions flow.  I also wanted Dmitri to ride on the table, as if it were a 

carriage, to rescue Grushenka.  To make this happen, in a safe manner, the 
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technical director, Tim Pickens, suggested we build the table on floating casters.  

This way the table could be locked or unlocked with a push of a button and would 

be safe to stand on without the table rolling out from under an actor.   

Lea had in mind the image of the characters as travelers, looking for their 

way in darkness.  Her image fit one I had seen in paintings of peasants carrying 

lanterns.  In those paintings, the light from the lantern shone forward, casting a 

shadow behind the person holding it—an image aligned with my central idea of 

light and shadow.  I also had the idea of lanterns hanging in the air as a way of 

evoking the period, which reinforced Lea’s image of the characters traveling 

toward light from darkness.  As previously mentioned, we also started looking at 

maps.  We decided to explore painting a star map on the floor to evoke a feeling 

of the heavens on earth--the stars being a great image of God’s light on man. 

Also as previously mentioned, we came to the image of an eclipse, a 

perfect illustration of our thematic image of shadow and light.  We then shifted 

the images from star maps to old illustrations of the eclipse.   

Lea started to create a very realistic interior style room and wall.  I loved 

the texture and dimension of these walls, but I didn’t think the set should be so 

realistic.  So I suggested that we paint over the wall with a completely unrelated 

image.  The effect would be impressionistic, like using window shutters as a 

canvas for a family portrait.  The idea came from a painting I had seen in a New 

York City store window.  The artist had painted a skyline onto a window shutter. 
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After that conversation, we decided to paint the entire set as an old 

illustration of an eclipse.  The first model was striking.   

 

Figure 3 – First Model 

My main concerns were doors which needed to open and close every time 

we wanted to take the table out from under the stage right platform.  The back 

wall became a silhouette of a village skyline, meant to evoke the various locales 

of the play.  I was fine with it, but Amy Saltz told me it read as a large city skyline.   

Here is a moment that I had to learn from.   The doors under the platform 

bothered me, but I was not able to clearly articulate that to Lea.  I did not want to 
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be responsible for the changes she would have to make or make more work for 

Lea.  I should have clearly articulated that concern and, in the years since, have 

been able to do so.  

That struggle did not matter in this case however.   

We were informed that the set had to change because of budget 

concerns.  Having a curved back wall and floor was too expensive.  We cut the 

back and created an octagon for the thrust stage.  We had two entrances, one 

raised up right and one on the deck, so we chose to focus on those doorways to 

evoke the architecture of Russia because that was all we had.  We were also 

able to cut the doors under the platform, allowing the table to roll freely in and 

out.  I know Lea was a little disappointed but I felt very good about the result.  I 

liked the minimalism of the structure and the details she was able to put into the 

doorways.   
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Figure 4 – Final Model Design 

In production the set worked very well.  I wish I had found better ways to 

create the party scene in which Dmitri rescues Grushenka.  I also felt that I did 

not deal with the mote around the octagon enough.  If I knew I was not going to 

use the mote, I could have had more stage space, which might have been 

helpful. 

We used ten chairs to create the various locales.  The most successful 

use of this was in the trial.  We had the chairs in the area surrounding the stage 

and the actors were to sit in them and observe the action, when not in a scene.  I 
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think it proved effective in connecting the audience to the trial as observers.  But 

it was the only time I used the mote well. 

There were difficulties getting to the final design, but Lea’s set was the 

most successful design element--simple, beautiful, evocative, and theatrical. Her 

set gave me a wonderful environment on which to create strong images with the 

actors.   

Lights 

The lighting design of this show was another of its successful elements.  

The lighting designer, Amith Chandrashaker, and I worked very well on this show 

and, as with Lea, we have continued the collaboration over the years. 

We started with the practical needs of this show; multiple scenes, 

locations.  We also worked with the same imagery from the scene with the Devil 

focusing on this passage: 

Devil: When you come to believe that the world is the source of its 
own illumination, that you are in the world, and God is, too, then the 
world will be a window, clear as glass, then there will be no 
shadow, because everything will be made of light. (Clarvoe, The 
Brothers Karamazov 102) 

We knew we would move from darkness to light over the course of the 

play.  So the first scene, Alyosha with Father Zosima, was very shadowy.  The 

final scene, also with Alyosha was as bright as we could make it. 

During the other scenes we used paintings from Repin to inspire the tone 

of light and the direction.  The most successful moment of the play was the 
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“murder” of Fyodor when Dmitri says, “Papa.  I’ve come home.”  We had all the 

light coming form behind Fyodor toward Dmitri.  It was a beautiful image of the 

shadow of the father being cast on the son.  It worked great, capturing the ideas 

of the play into a striking visual image.   

 

Figure 5 – Photo by Larry Levanti 

With this collaboration Amith and I learned a common language, using the 

paintings.  Lighting design is one of the trickiest elements on a production.  We 

can build a model for a set and know what we have, but with lights, it is very hard 

to communicate what they will look like.  Because of the class we took together 

our first year with F. Mitch Dana, Amith was able to give me a very clear idea of 
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what to expect, using evocative images and my recollection of tech was that it 

worked as expected. 

I was very pleased with the results and the production photos from the 

show prove how successful Amith was.  The concept of moving from shadow to 

light was very simple and effective.   

Costumes  

The costume designer, Liyun Xi, and I developed an approach to the 

designs that worked very well.  It goes back to the non-realistic, silhouette 

approach I used for the set and lights.  I wanted to evoke the period, not be 

married to it in a literal way.   

Before we even got to the imagery, we had to address the problem of ten 

actors playing thirty-two roles.  The main consideration was being able to do that 

without completely changing costumes for each role, not because we couldn’t 

afford to, but because theater, for me, is about allowing the audience to make 

connections, to fill in gaps with their imagination.  So, even if we had the time, I 

didn’t want to completely change an actor’s outfit, I’d rather adjust it slightly.  For 

instance, when Christina Ross changed from Katya to a gypsy peasant, I wanted 

her to add one element to her costume and do the rest in her portrayal.  So we 

added two shawls to her dress.   

The best results came from the way we set up the Karamazov family.  We 

made their palette black, white, and red--black and white to reveal the strong 
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contrast of good and evil the Karamazov’s all struggle with, red to evoke the 

Karamazov passion.  The costume designer chose which specific costume piece 

would be red so that it would reveal something about the specific character. 

Fyodor had a red cravat and his vest was outlined in red.  When the actor 

switched to the Devil, he kept the vest and added red horns.  This small 

adjustment reminded the audience of Fyodor.  Dmitri had a red stripe on his 

pants and jacket, emphasizing his work as a soldier.  Alyosha had a red sash 

which emphasized his role as a religious novice.  Smerdyakov did not get a red 

piece until after the murder when he put on the red robe his father wore the night 

of his death.  Ivan wore a red bow tie, evoking his role as an intellectual.   

Grushenka and Katya had to be in opposition visually.  Red connects 

Grushenka to the Karamazov family, of which she eventually becomes part.  It 

also speaks to her defining traits--passion, sexuality, and violence.  Katya worked 

in a very dark blue palette because it opposed Grushenka’s red and also 

because it looked beautiful on the actress, who had fair skin and red hair.  This 

conveyed a cool, dispassionate tone that suited Katya as well.    

We tended to put the rest of the cast in earth tones to contrast the 

Karamazovs and their love interests.  We even put Smerdyakov in earth tones to 

show how far away he was from being an official Karamazov.  Peasants were 

wrapped in a brown and grey blanket.  This was a perfect, striking look.   
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I felt the costumes were perfect.  It was an extremely successful 

production on that level.  The costumes hold up well in the production 

photographs.   
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EVALUATION 

Initial Goals 

When I set out on this production I had these goals in mind: make a 

theatrical, smart, funny, sharp production of very large play.   

I also wanted to tell the story in such a way that people did not feel they 

were missing a book, or even that there was a book.  That's something they 

could find out later as far as I was concerned.   

As I first read the play I envisioned a world where passionate ideas, 

artistic vision, and humor could live within with deeply felt characters, which is 

very much how the novel works.  Clarvoe had laid out the key events from the 

book and used humor and the theatrical art to communicate it.  From the very 

beginning I was working to bring the play to theatrical life by using humor.  The 

characters stories revolve around ideas and it was important that I communicate 

these ideas.  However, they had to be revealed through action.  

Tying the characters’ ideas to their objectives was a lesson I had learned 

when I was the assistant director for a Mason Gross production of Arms and the 

Man by George Bernard Shaw.  His plays only work if the ideas in them are 

expressed through passionate characters.   

I had envisioned this, my thesis production, as a grand and exciting 

endeavor--one which by its sheer size would force me to rise up.  I wanted a 

show that was big--big ideas, big emotions, big cast, and just plain big.  I had 
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never done anything on this scale.  I went in thinking I could do this show on 

every level and left humbled by it.   

I wanted the story to be accessible to our toughest audiences.  I had 

hoped to use the humor and passion of the characters so that the idea of seeing 

a big intellectual, stuffy production would be thrown out the window and they 

would go for the long ride and enjoy every moment of it.   

I wanted to explore an aspect of my own heritage.  I come from Russian 

Jews and when I read the book felt a kinship with the characters.  The old world 

romance of Russia has always been appealing to me in both the familiar and 

eccentric aspects of the history. 

Assessment 

Acting 

 I had difficulties working with the actors.  There are a number of reasons 

for this.  First, I had not really done the correct preparation, as I have stated 

before.  The events of the play did not add up to a coherent story.  I did not have 

specific objectives or actions for the actors to play.  Second, I did not have a 

clear sense of the style of the production.  Neither the second-year students, (the 

actors playing; Rakitin, Grushenka, Alyosha, and Ivan) nor I had a good sense of 

how to play a style other than moment-to-moment realism.   

Early on in the process we found out that the father of the actor playing 

Fyodor was dying.  This caused a number of problems.  The question was 
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whether he could or should do the show.  I felt pressure to relieve him in order to 

protect the show, but I felt strongly that the actor should decide if he should stay 

or go. He decided to stay on, but we both agreed to have an understudy so that if 

he had to leave at a critical time we could cover all bases.   

I was not totally happy with his performance.  I don’t think I was able to 

inspire him to get him off the ground strongly enough.  I wanted his charm and 

humor but I also needed him to allow himself to be evil and terrifying.  He was not 

extreme, not a tyrant.  We should have gotten him to the level of Richard III or 

Iago.  We never quite identified with the brothers as to why they wanted to kill 

him.  The actor was afraid to go far enough and I was not willing to say that to 

him.  In working with actors, I had trouble saying the exact truth--sometimes 

because I was slow to pick up what was actually wrong, other times because I 

did not want to say the difficult truth.  Amy Saltz felt that he had finally gotten 

ferocious but, the laughter in the preview performance knocked him back into 

familiar habit where he would play for laughs, not trusting the work we had done.   

With Alyosha I had another difficult situation of recasting after the original 

actor quit the program.  While this event happened before we went into 

rehearsal, this is never good for the actor taking over because there is the feeling 

of having been the second choice that I was unable to overcome.  I again was 

unable to get this performance where I wanted it.  His work was general.   
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Dmitri was a tough role for a modern American male who is not used to 

the passionate outbursts and physical affection the character expresses.  The 

character is a full throttle all the time.  He is passionate and full of self-loathing.  I 

felt very good about where we got with it.  The actor in this role trusted me and 

went where I needed most of the time.  Since the show we have worked together 

several times. 

Ivan was a major problem and one I take responsibility for.  I miscast the 

role.  I had worked with this actor before and thought he could get there but the 

main thing I learned with this play was that what you see in the audition 

sometimes is all you can count on.  That might be what they do, so you better be 

happy with it.  I liked the actor as a person but that did not translate into a 

dynamic performance.   Both of us loved engaging in the ideas but that did not 

translate into a dynamic performance.  In the end, I do not think he was a very 

compelling choice.   

The one performance I was most proud of was the actor in the role of 

Smerdyakov.  This was arguably the best work he did while at school.  He had 

everything I wanted from a performer; he was fearless, loved engaging the ideas 

of the play, but also a willingness to let go of the ideas to serve the scene.  He 

did great character work and had simple moment-to-moment truth.  It was a joy 

to work with him on this.   
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I was happy with Grushenka for the most part, but never felt we were able 

to get her to let go completely and lose control, even as an exploration.  She was 

very concerned with what I wanted and often too caught up in that.   

There was a particular moment that was illuminating to the process of 

working with actors that has served since.  In one of her first moments on stage, 

Grushenka talks about coffee.  She says, “Oh, coffee is good.  Take some 

beans, burn them, grind them, scald them.  Look what they give you.  Coffee is a 

good thing.” (Clarvoe, The Brothers Karamazov 21)  When I read this, it seems 

that this line could be taken at face value.  She likes coffee; she’s a morning 

person.  Dmitri is across the room on the floor, passed out.  A good contrast 

between them I thought.  Amy Saltz felt that the line communicated despair.  

What Amy was trying to do was give the character an arc; sad and lonely in the 

beginning, hopeful and happy at the end.  It made no sense to me in terms of 

script analysis, but once Stacie took the note, it worked.  I learned that 

sometimes it does not matter what is in the text necessarily.  The audience would 

not have noticed the difference between the two approaches, but one gave the 

actor an arc and, while I think the other could have given her the character’s 

journey, in a different way, it was not as clear.  Ultimately I need to let go of ideas 

if another idea helps the actor and still tells the story 

The actor who played Rakitin, a friend of Alyosha and fellow novice, was a 

man of color and he never got over the idea that he was playing a servant.  I had 
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no idea how to overcome this feeling in him.  Early on I did not even wish to 

dignify it with comment, so I assumed that he would see it for what it is, a great 

role.  He was never happy however, and ultimately, late in the process I asked 

him if this is how he felt and he said yes.  I asked if there was anything I could do 

and he said no.  So I let it go.  I should have had this conversation much earlier.  

I have learned that you must be painfully truthful as early as possible.  As far as 

his work went in his primary role as Rakitin, it was what I expected when I cast 

him, over the top and ungrounded.  I enjoyed his work as the innkeeper the most 

and wished that he could have been willing to explore the “truth” of the character 

of Rakitin and not comment on it.   

I miscast the role of Fenya.  The actor was physically not right and, 

ultimately didn’t have the character skills I needed for the role.  This role is one 

that, when doing a large play like this, one might forget about.  You say to 

yourself, do I have a Fyodor, a Dmitri but you don’t think of Fenya.  For a college 

level production she is the one that you might want to pay attention to. 

The actor in the role of Katya was good, like most of the production, but 

not amazing.  She was eager to work but there was no passion behind her work.  

At the time I thought that the character had no passion and I cast it that way.  I 

now think that Katya has passion, but is afraid to express it, so she holds it back.  

If we could have seen Katya’s struggle, it would have made all the difference.    



60 

 

 

Raymond McAnally was transformational in the roles of Father Zosima, 

Samsonov, Mussyalovich, and Nelyudov.  Each of these four roles was given 

depth and richness by Ray.  He was a source of consistency that I needed.  As a 

third year student, he had all the character work and imagination needed to play 

each role in a specific way.  I cannot imagine having anyone else doing the great 

work he did on this show.    

Production 

I am most proud of my leadership in the design process.  I think I got the 

best work out of everyone involved and guided them well.  I look at the 

production photos now and they remind me of how strong the visual aspects of 

the show were.  I am also proud of the staging.  I believe I used the stage well 

and found ways to make the production move rapidly to and from a variety of 

locales. 

I managed to get the production team on board much more than the 

actors.  The set designer and light designer have both told me in the years since 

that it was one of the best shows they have worked on.  

I have to credit R. Michael Miller as my instructor in the class Designer 

Director Relationship, and as an advisor for the set design of this show.  I learned 

a great deal under him and without his help I know this show would not have 

been as good.   
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I felt best about my use of theatrical space, which is good because when I 

first came to the program that was the number one complaint about my work.  I 

was proud of the simple use of furniture.  The table served many purposes and I 

exploited it in a multitude of ways.  In one scene it was a table, but then served 

as a coffin; we used its rolling ability to move Dmitri around during a transition to 

a hotel.  The table was a simple, transformative element that evoked many 

locations and served many purposes.  I did not get caught in the trap of stopping 

the play to create a new scene.  I did everything I could to limit the adjustments 

needed to move from one scene to another.   

I liked the boldness of the imagery.  When I look at the pictures from the 

show I see what I set out to create visually, a silhouette of the period.   

My collaboration with the designers also showed a much-improved 

approach.  In my second year I learned that some designers had pegged me as 

a 'trouble' director.  I had a reputation of being indecisive.  This was fair.  No 

excuse, but in a master’s program it is extremely easy to become bogged down 

in getting things “correct” and that can lead to indecision.  This was not the case 

on this production.  Our technical rehearsal was long and difficult because of the 

sheer size of the show, but there was no additional issue.   

Since leaving that production behind I have worked multiple times with 

both my set and light designers on various projects.  I learned to play well with 

others on this show, by having a clear vision and making early decisions.   
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Conclusion 

As I have already stated, the design collaborations went well, but my work 

with the actors suffered in this process.  I think as my training at Mason Gross 

began I was hyperaware of the Actor and what the actors needed to move 

forward.  My first three shows were very strong actor pieces and I have always 

thought of myself as an “actor’s” director rather than a “conceptual” one.   As I 

moved into more complicated productions that work seemed to suffer.   

My regrets with this show dwell with the actors--not all, obviously, but 

some did not do their best work under my direction.  I have thought a lot about 

why that is, and have come to some conclusions. 

Casting a show is a major part of directing.  Sometimes, I have put 

someone in a role I would rather work with over another who might be better 

suited.  I had a hard time casting the role of Ivan.  As I stated before, the actor 

was someone I had worked with already and enjoyed.  He was the right type and 

he looked the part, and wanted very much to play the role.  Another actor in the 

audition was also a very good actor, but not exceptional at auditioning.  However, 

I can see now that he would have been better in the role.  The lesson is that I 

cannot allow my personal feelings to interfere in my decision to cast an actor.   

I was confident when I came to Mason Gross that I was an actor's director 

more than anything else.  My first year, I had two shows in which the acting was 

seen as standout, the best work those actors had done. I started off my second 
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year with Serenading Louie by Lanford Wilson.  It was a design collaboration 

nightmare, but the acting was well received.  By the time I got to my thesis 

production, I was no longer particularly helpful to actors.  I struggled to know 

why, and have gone back and forth over the possible reasons.  The first shows I 

directed were stylistically realistic.  I was able to bring credible acting work from 

my cast.  As I moved on in the training I had a harder time dealing with a slightly 

more presentational style that also allowed the actors to engage in moment-to-

moment truth.  Truly I was more concerned with the whole and hoped that the 

actors would somehow “get it” without my input.  This was, of course, a flawed 

approach.  I have subsequently made a point of dealing with actor issues head 

on as soon as I notice them.  I don’t hope my problems away anymore. 

I also felt that, as I moved through the program, I lost some of my own 

passionate voice while trying to make things “right.”  This was a fear of mine in 

coming to a program like this, that I would forgo “art” for the sake of correctness, 

that my work would be clear and sterile like a lot of the regional theatre I have 

seen.  Perhaps this is impossible to avoid.  The educational environment is not 

the best place for art to thrive.  None of this is an excuse.  I had hoped against 

hope that I would rise above all this to create an epic masterwork for the Mason 

Gross stage.  Instead it was a rather tepid thing.   

Ultimately what was missing most was passion.  The head of acting, 

Deborah Hedwall, one night said that what was missing was Russian passion.  I 
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knew as she said it that it was true.  One way or another, it didn't get to the actors 

or the audience.  That question of where the passion went has haunted me since 

I did the show.  Passion was my greatest gift when I came to school and at the 

end, when I needed it most, where was it?  That is the disappointment I carry.  I 

would rather it had been a messy, violent, uneven, unnerving piece than a clean, 

lukewarm, interesting show.  Perhaps it was too clever for its own good.  I was 

too interested in making sure that the actors understood the show rather than felt 

the show.  I’ve learned since that the ideas of a play are in the behavior of the 

characters.  The audience picks it up but the actors do not need to push the 

‘thought’ of the production.  They need to fight for their objectives, not their 

thoughts.  I did not make the stakes clear to them as well. 

My fear in entering an MFA program, that it would take some part of my 

passion, spirit and clean it up, somehow came true on this show.  It has taken 

time to realize this. The first reason was preparation.  One of my shortcomings as 

a director is a lack of preparation before the rehearsal period. I didn’t answer the 

tough questions about specific scenes.  Specificity with the actors would have 

made their choices clearer.  It also took me longer to see what the issue was if a 

scene wasn’t working.  It often does not clearly jump out and I tend to take too 

much time to decide.  Clearer, specific decisions would have helped bring the 

passion, power, and mystery of this story to life.    I’ve learned since to make 

strong choices quickly, based on careful work on the script in preproduction.   
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I also made assumptions.  When I studied acting with Deborah Hedwall, 

she trained me to never take anything for granted.  Similarly, in the improvisation 

training I had before I came to Mason Gross, we also learned to not take 

anything for granted, that everything that happens is something you have to 

respond to.  I find it odd that as a director, I had trouble with this, but I did.  I 

assumed the audience would follow the story, simply because I either hoped they 

did or because it seemed so obvious to me.   

It is very hard to create “Art” in the MFA environment.  Besides telling the 

story of the play, there are other considerations that exist in the university setting 

that are not in the professional setting.  The actors in a university are hyper 

aware of their training, especially where they are in the process at that specific 

time.  So actors playing the roles of Alyosha, Rakitin, Grushenka, and Ivan were 

just entering their second year of acting training.  They had yet to have any 

classes on style, character, or actions.  The first-year work at Mason Gross is all 

about developing a sense of truth.  Students do not learn how to apply any of 

those techniques until their second year.  The afore mentioned actors were not 

ready for the style of the show. 

I was also struggling to find the style of the show.  I explained how long it 

took me to realize the script was not in the style of Anton Chekhov.  That carried 

over to the rehearsals.  The reason for this might have been how I related to my 

directing classmate, Chris O’Conner.  He was much more experienced in style 
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work than I.  During his time at school he directed plays by Moliere, Buchner, and 

Dario Fo.  When we had class discussions on style I was not able to ask the 

questions that would have helped me because I was concerned about looking 

foolish.   

I see how this show got away from me.  I wanted to take on a large 

challenging show, bigger in scope than I had worked on before with the ultimate 

hope of rising to the occasion.  In hindsight, I would have been better off doing a 

show on a scale that I was familiar with and going deeper than I had been able to 

before with new resources at my disposal.  I would have been better off doing 

Serenading Louie in this slot I believe now.  That said, I don’t think I would have 

made any other decision.   

The show was flawed but powerful.  People seemed to be with it.  I found 

it hard to watch after it opened.  I kept judging it.  There were performances that 

just never took off.  Some of this was my responsibility but some was baggage 

that I was simply unable to overcome.   

Epilogue 

I am writing this conclusion after many years away from the show.  The 

young man who directed this play is very far away from the man typing.  This 

production has sat on me for a long time and I hope by completing this document 

I can move on a bit more.  It was a painful experience but not more so than any 

other show I wish went differently.  The main lesson of the show for me was to do 
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more work on the script so I could be a freer artist during rehearsals, not so 

concerned with making mistakes, giving the actors a playground to live out their 

characters and confidence that what they are doing fits a unified world under my 

eye. 

I would like to acknowledge that this document has been extremely 

difficult to complete.  Perhaps it was the difficulty of a mediocre show that has 

kept me from truly examining the process.  Some of it has to do with knowing that 

a lot of the preparation that would go into a document like this was not done.  

Frankly there is not real excuse for the delay.  I have artistically moved on from 

this show years ago.  I am not the same person and do my work with more 

confidence and can tell difficult truths quicker.  My prep work has improved as 

well.  So it is not like there is this particularly large wound that this play sits in. 

I still relish the sharp eye I feel this production gave me.  The feeling I had, 

watching the play, not being able to tell what specifically was wrong, but knowing 

that something was wrong, was a dreadful one.  After the show, my attention to 

detail increased noticeably and now I tend to make decisions quicker and notice 

problems faster and that all comes from doing more, way more, preparation. 

I came to Mason Gross because I wanted a program that would teach me 

a way of working that could be applied to a variety of theater projects.  I believe 

that is what happened.  I have worked on many types of performance projects, 

from the realism of Lanford Wilson to highly stylized dance theater works.  In 
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each case, the approach was very similar--do my homework, find images that 

connect me to the design staff, make the objectives clear to the actors and when 

I see a problem, deal with it.  These are the final lessons I learned from this 

specific production and my time at Mason Gross as a whole. 
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 Figure 6 - Photo by Larry Levanti 



 

 

Figure 8 - Photo by Larry Levanti 

Figure 7 - Photo by Larry Levanti 



 

 

Figure 10 - Photo by Larry Levanti 

Figure 9 - Photo by Larry Levanti 






























































































































































































































